STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

07-19-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017 AP 000860 CR Fond du Lac County Circuit Court Case Nos. 2016CT000153

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRAD L. CONGER,

Defendant-Appellant.

AN APPEAL FROM THE JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION AND IN FOND DU LAC COUNTY, THE HONORABLE GARY R. SHARPE, JUDGE, PRESIDING

THE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT BRAD L. CONGER

By: Walter A. Piel, Jr.

Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant

State Bar No. 01023997

Piel Law Office 500 W. Silver Spring Drive Suite K-200 Milwaukee, WI 53217 (414) 617-0088 (920) 390-2088 (FAX)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the trial court err when it refused to strike Juror S.B. for cause where Juror S.B. sat on a case one week prior with similar facts, identical theory of defense and the same defense attorney, and where she equivocated as to whether the prior week's case would affect her decision in the current case?

The trial court answered: No.

STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because this is an appeal within Wis. Stats. Sec. 752.31(2), the resulting decision is not eligible for publication. Because the issues in this appeal may be resolved through the application of established law, the briefs in this matter should adequately address the arguments; oral argument will not be necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

The defendant-appellant, Brad L. Conger, (Mr. Conger) was charged in the County of Fond du Lac, with having operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant contrary to Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(a) and with having operated a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration contrary to Wis. Stat §346.63(1)(b) on February 20, 2016. A jury trial was held on February 14, 2017. The jury found Mr. Conger not guilty of operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, but found him guilty of operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration.

A sentencing hearing was held on March 7, 2017, where the Court, the Honorable Gary R. Sharpe, Judge, Fond du Lac County Circuit Court, presiding, sentenced Mr. Conger. On that same date, the defendant filed a Petition to Stay Penalties Pending Appeal, and timely filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Post Conviction relief. The court granted Mr. Conger's Petition to Stay Penalties. On May 4, 2017, Mr. Conger timely filed a Notice of Appeal.

Facts in support of this appeal were adduced at the jury trial held on February 14, 2017. The pertinent facts relate to the

Court refusing to strike for cause Juror Suzanne Bubolz (Juror S.B.).

During voir dire, the court conducted individual voir dire on three jurors (Juror S.B., Juror R.S. and Juror E.S.). Each of these three jurors sat on a case with very similar facts, theory of defense and the same defense counsel as one week prior to the commencement of Mr. Conger's case. During that individual voir dire, the Court advised each juror that the reason for the individual voir dire was because they sat on a case "last week very similar to this jury with the same defense attorney, and the case involved operating while intoxicated, and the case involved a test result very similar to the test result you will hear today." (R.34:36/App.10). In the previous case, the jury, under similar facts, found that defendant not guilty of operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, but guilty of operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration. (R.34:29/App.3). Defense counsel questioned Juror S.B. on the previous week's verdict, and whether Juror S.B. felt the test result being over the legal limit should be enough to establish guilt. (R.34:29/App.3). Juror S.B. implied that if the test is properly taken and showed an alcohol concentration over the limit, then that would be enough to

convict, she stated "[i]f the blood went to the right place at the right time, there isn't much you can do to fight the alcohol." (R.34:29/App.3). Defense counsel attempted to follow up to determine if Juror S.B. would hold the State to their burden of establishing the alcohol concentration at the time of driving, but the Court cut off defense counsel's question. (R.34:30/App.4). The Court then informed Juror S.B.:

THE COURT: ...the similar kinds of arguments are going to be made about the actual differences between when the person was driving and when the test occurred, the dissipation and/or absorption of alcohol into the bloodstream...(R.34:30-31/App.)

Subsequntly, the court asked:

THE COURT: Do you think you can consider all of those factors all new in this case based upon the facts you hear in this case without just saying, well, you heard all of this last week, and I'm going to make my decision like I did last week? That's, I guess, essentially, what we are asking you today.

Juror S.B.: I will try to do the best I can without considering what happened last week." (R.34:31/App. 5).

Defense counsel then asked if Juror S.B. would reject the curve defense simply because of the prior week's trial, and Juror S.B. indicated "this is a different case." *Id.* District Attorney Toney then question her about how she would reconcile

different information about absorption with the prior week's trial, and she said "It wouldn't affect my decision if that's what you mean, I guess I don't--" Defense counsel moved to strike Juror S.B. for cause. (R.34:33/App.7). The court denied Mr. Conger's motion to strike Juror S.B. for cause, (R.34:33-36/App.7-10) finding Juror S.B. open and willing to separate the prior week's trial from Mr. Conger's trial. *Id.*

Defense counsel did not strike Juror S.B., and she was seated as a juror. Similar to the prior week's trial, the jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant case, but guilty on the operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration case. A Judgment of Conviction was entered on March 7, 2017. Mr. Conger timely filed a Notice of Appeal on May 5, 2017.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the circuit court's decision denying a motion to strike a prospective juror for subjective bias, the reviewing court should "uphold the trial court's factual findings that a prospective juror is or is not subjectively biased unless it is clearly erroneous." State v. Faucher, 227 Wis.2d 700, 596 N.W.2d 770 (1999). This is because the trial court is in the "superior position to assess the demeanor and disposition of prospective jurors." State v. Lepsch, 2017 WI 27, ¶23, 374 Wis.2d 98, 892 N.W.2d 682 The standard of review in reviewing whether a juror was objectively biased is that the reviewing court "gives weight to the circuit court's conclusions that a prospective juror is or is not objectively biased", and will reverse only "if as a matter of law a reasonable court could not have reached such a conclusion." State v. Kiernan, 227 Wis.2d 736, at 745, 596 N.W. 760 (1999) citing to **Faucher**, at 720.

ARGUMENT

BECAUSE SHE HAD ONE WEEK PRIOR SAT ON A CASE WITH SIMILAR FACTS, A SIMILAR THEORY OF DEFENSE AND THE SAME DEFENSE COUNSEL AND WHERE SHE STATED DURING VOIR DIRE, SHE WOULD ONLY TRY TO DO HER BEST IN NOT CONSIDERING THE PRIOR WEEK'S TRIAL, THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT REFUSED TO STRIKE JUROR S.B. FOR CAUSE.

An accused has the right to have an impartial jury decide his fate. Both the United States (U.S. Const. amends. VI and XIV) and the Wisconsin Constitution (Wis. Const. art. I, §7) "To be impartial, a juror must be guarantee such rights. indifferent and capable of basing her verdict upon the evidence developed at trial." State v. Faucher, 227 Wis.2d 700, 715, 596 N.W.2d 770 (1999). Jurors are presumed impartial, and the accused bears the burden of proving bias. State v. Lepsch, 2017 WI 27, ¶22, 374 Wis.2d 98, 892 N.W.2d 682. The three types of bias recognized by Wisconsin courts are (1) statutory, (2) subjective and (3) objective bias. *Id.* It is well established that Wisconsin appellate courts have "cautioned and encouraged the circuit courts to strike prospective jurors for cause when the circuit courts' 'reasonably suspect' juror bias exists." State v. *Lindell*, 2001 WI 108, ¶49, 245 Wis.2d 689, 629 N.W.2d 223. Even if an appellate court would not reverse a trial court's decision not to strike a prospective juror, trial courts should err on the side of caution. *Id.*

Because Juror S.B. exhibited both subjective and objective bias, the trial court refusal to strike Juror S.B. was clearly erroneous. The trial court erred in failing to strike her for cause. In determining if a juror exhibited subjective bias, the

court must inquire as to "whether the record reflects that the juror is a reasonable person who is sincerely willing to set aside any opinion or prior knowledge that the juror might have." *Kiernan* at 744, *citing to State v. Ferron*, 219 Wis.2d 481, at 498, 579 N.W.2d 654 (1998). Subjective bias refers to "bias that is revealed through the words and the demeanor of the prospective juror." *Faucher*, 227 Wis.2d at 717, 596 N.W.2d 770.

Objective bias "inquires whether a 'reasonable person in the juror's position could set aside the opinion or prior knowledge." *Ferron*, at 498. The theory behind objective bias is that "in some circumstances, bias can be detected "from facts and circumstances surrounding the ... juror's answers" notwithstanding a juror's statement to the effect that the juror can and will be impartial." *Kiernan*, at 745.

Here, Juror S.B.'s answers during individual voir dire clearly demonstrate her subjective as well as objective bias. The week prior to Mr. Conger's jury trial, Juror S.B. sat on a case with very similar facts to those herein. As can be gleaned from voir dire, the prior week's case dealt with virtually the same issues present in Mr. Conger's case. The cases were similar in terms of the blood alcohol level, the theory of defense (blood

alcohol curve), and the arguments that where presented. (R.34:27/App.1).

When questioned regarding her ability to decide Mr. Conger's case on the facts only in his case, Juror S.B. did not say yes she could, she equivocated and said she would try to do "the best [she] can without considering what happened last week." (R.34:31/App.5). The prior week's jury rejected the blood alcohol curve defense, finding defendant not guilty of the OWI charge, but guilty of the PAC charge. (R.34:29/App.3). Juror S.B. did not express a sincere willingness to set aside the prior knowledge and opinion that she had from her previous jury service. Her answer was equivocal, she simply agreed to try her best. Because Juror S.B. did not express a sincere willingness to set aside her prior knowledge and opinion, she was subjectively biased, and should have been struck for cause.

Not only did Juror S.B.'s answers reveal subjective bias, but they also revealed that Juror S.B. was objectively biased. "The concept of objective bias relates to the question of whether a reasonable person in the individual prospective juror's position could be impartial." *Lepsch* at ¶24. Here, Juror S.B. had already rejected virtually the same defense one week prior. Furthermore, her response to questions regarding the test result showed that

she would again reject the blood alcohol curve defense. She specifically stated that she felt, "if the blood went to the right place at the right time, there isn't much you can do to fight the alcohol." (R.34:29/App.3). Her answer revealed unwillingness to consider a curve defense (the exact defense that she rejected one week prior.). Based on these answers it is apparent that a reasonable person in Juror S.B.'s position could not have been fair and impartial. Because of the above, in addition to subjective bias, objective bias is preset, and Juror S.B., should have been struck for cause. The trial court should have erred on the side of caution and struck Juror S.B. The refusal to strike Juror S.B. was clearly erroneous.

CONCLUSION

Because Juror S.B. was subjectively and objectively biased, the trial court should have granted Mr. Conger's motion to strike Juror S.B. for cause. Thus, the trial court erred in failing to strike Juror S.B. The Court should reverse the Judgment of Conviction and remand for a new trial.