# **RECEIVED**

08-28-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2017 AP 000860 CR Fond du Lac County Circuit Court Case No. 16 CT 153

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRAD L. CONGER,

Defendant-Appellant.

## AN APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND IN FOND DU LAC COUNTY, THE HONORABLE GARY R. SHARPE PRESIDING

# THE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT, STATE OF WISCONSIN

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

**By: Douglas R. Edelstein** Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1070550 Fond du Lac County Dist. Atty's Office 160 S. Macy Street Fond du Lac, WI 54935 (920) 929-3048

#### I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Did the trial court err when it did not strike Juror S.B. for cause?

Trial Court Answered: No.

# II. STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This appeal is within Wis. Stat. §752.31(2) and is not eligible for publication pursuant to Wis. Stat. §809.23(1)b(4). The State is not requesting oral argument, as this matter involves only the application of well-settled law to the facts of the case.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 14, 2017 this case proceeded to Jury Trial before the Honorable Gary R. Sharpe, of the Fond du Lac County Circuit Court Br. IV. (R.39:4/R.App.1). Early in the proceedings, counsel for Mr. Conger alerted the trial court to the concern of jurors who sat on a prior trial with the same attorney the week prior and their ability to serve on another jury without bias. (R.39:9/R.App.2). Ultimately the trial court identified a procedure to inquire with prospective jurors about their experience on the prior case (R.39:16/R.App.3). This procedure would entail bringing the former jurors into the privacy of the jury deliberation room to make specific inquiry with each juror. *Id*.

Jurors were then brought into the courtroom and a generalized overview of the process of juror selection was provided by the trial court. (R.39:18-19/R.App.4-5). The trial court identified three jurors that had served on the jury the week prior. (R.39:30-31/A.App.4-5). During inquiry with prospective jurors, the trial court exercised discretion in striking four jurors for cause. (R.39:29,33,37,39/A.App.3,7/R.App.6,7).Of note, none of these strikes were prompted by motion of either party.

To inquire with the jurors from the prior week's trial the trial court adjourned to a different setting. (R.39:41/R.App.8). Juror S.B. was the first prospective juror to be questioned in this setting. Id. During inquiry from the trial court, Juror S.B. understood the importance of the proceedings against Mr. Conger, noting "this is very serious charges". (R.39:42/R.App.9). Juror S.B. agreed to do her best to listen to the testimony, and not be swayed by what occurred in the prior trial. Id. Juror S.B. agreed to follow the instructions as given to her by the court, even if they were the same instructions as the prior case. (R.39:43-44/R.App.10-11). Juror S.B. again reaffirmed to the trial court that she would do her best "without considering what happened last week". (R.39:45-46/R.App.12-13). Juror S.B. further noted that this case was different, and information learned in the other case would not affect her decision in the present case. (R.39:46-47/R.App13-14). Juror S.B. also agreed to take other facts into consideration that could influence her decision, specifically food impacting a blood alcohol curve. (R.39:47/R.App.14).

Following questioning of Juror S.B. trial counsel for Mr. Conger moved to strike her for cause. *Id.* The trial court declined to strike Juror S.B. for cause. (R.39:49/R.App.15). The trial court articulated its reasoning for not striking Juror S.B. for cause, to include the following:

- a) Juror S.B. was asked whether she felt she would be compelled to make a similar decision, and the trial court determined that she did not feel that she would make a similar decision (R.39:48/R.App.16).
- b) Juror S.B. agreed to listen to the testimony; *Id.*
- c) Juror S.B. acknowledged it was a different (alcohol) test; *Id*.
- d) Juror S.B. acknowledged a different between the time the test was taken and the time someone drive; *Id*.

- e) Juror S.B. acknowledged there were influences on a test result based upon what somebody ate and the absorption rate; *Id.*
- f) Juror S.B. expressed an open demeanor, and was not defensive;(R.39:49/R.App.15).
- g) Juror S.B. would listen to all of the testimony; *Id.*
- h) The trial court believed Juror S.B. to be willing to consider arguments of counsel; *Id.*
- i) The trial court believed that Juror S.B. would not simply reject a theory of defense in this case because that theory was rejected the week prior. (R.39:49-51/App.15,17-18).

Upon conclusion of *voir dire*, Juror S.B. was not stricken by either party and remained on the jury. (R.39:72/R.App.19). The jury trial continued, wherein upon conclusion of the trial the jury returned a verdict of guilty to Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration. (R.39:251/A.App.20). Mr. Conger has filed an appeal requesting a new trial and remand to the trial court. (App. Brief, 10).

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

A. The trial court did not err in denying Mr. Conger's motion to strike Juror S.B. for cause as Juror S.B. did not present either subjective or objective bias.

The United States Constitution and Wisconsin's Constitution both guarantee an accused an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wis. Const. art. 1 § 7. "To be impartial, a juror must be indifferent and capable of basing his or her verdict upon the evidence developed at trial." *State v. Faucher*, 227 Wis.2d 700, 715, 596 N.W.2d 770 (1999).

"'Prospective jurors are presumed impartial.' The party challenging a juror's impartiality bears the burden of rebutting this presumption and proving bias." *State v. Funk*, 335 Wis.2d 369,388, 799 N.W.2d 421 (2011)(quoting *State v. Louis*, 156 Wis.2d 470, 478, 457 N.W.2d 484 (1990)). Additionally, "veteran jurors need not be removed for cause when called to decide multiple cases with similar issues and identical witnesses." *State v. Kiernan*, 227 Wis.2d 736,748, 596 N.W.2d 760, (1999). To remove a "veteran juror" for cause, that juror "must be shown individually to have exhibited bias in the case they are called to hear." *Id.* at 751. Even more, "[w]hile circuit courts *may* remove jurors to avoid the appearance of bias, the circuit courts are obligated to remove for cause *only* those jurors who are indeed biased." *Id.* at 749 n.9 (emphasis added).

Appellate courts give deference to circuit courts' factual and legal determinations about whether a prospective juror is biased. This is because:

"[L]awyers may ask leading questions on voir dire and because they are also skilled in obtaining desired answers, the responses of a prospective juror to such questions are often contradictory, depending on which party is asking the questions. Thus, on appeal, both parties are usually able to point to voir dire answers that support their competing positions regarding the challenged juror. Given this situation, it is all the more appropriate for [appellate courts] to defer to the trial court's better position to assess the prospective juror's credibility and honesty." *State v. Jimmie R.R.*, 232 Wis. 2d 138, 154-55, 606 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1999).

In pursuit of impartial jurors, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized three types of juror bias: (1) statutory, (2) subjective, and (3) objective. *State v. Lepsch*, 374 Wis.2d 98,115, 892 N.W.2d 682. See also *State v. Smith*, 291 Wis.2d 569, 581, 716 N.W.2d 482 (2006) and *Faucher*, 227 Wis.2d at 716.

Mr. Conger asserts that Juror S.B. was subjectively and objectively biased against him. (App. Brief, 6). Mr. Conger states that S.B. was biased against him because she "sat on a case one week prior with similar facts, *identical theory of defense* and the same defense attorney . . . [and]

equivocated as to whether the prior week's case would affect her decision" (App. Brief,iii) (*emphasis added*). Mr. Conger also claims he presented a "blood alcohol curve defense" at trial. (App. Brief, 3,7,9).

The trial court's refusal to strike Juror S.B. for cause was not "clearly erroneous" and was a decision that "a reasonable judge could have reached." *Faucher*, 227 Wis. 2d at 718-21. To assess a prospective juror's potential bias, Wisconsin courts have noted: "it is clear that 'a prospective juror need not respond to voir dire questions with an unequivocal declarations of impartiality." *State v. Oswald*, 232 Wis. 2d 103,112, 606 N.W.2d 238 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 776, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999).

Subjective bias is a question of fact. *Faucher*, 227 Wis. 2d at 718. "Jurors are subjectively biased when they have 'expressed or formed any opinion' about the case prior to hearing the evidence." *Funk*, 335 Wis. 2d at 39. (quoting *Faucher*, 227 Wis. 2d at 717). This bias is "revealed through the words and the demeanor of the prospective juror" and "refers to the prospective juror's state of mind." *Id*. For that reason, "whether a prospective juror is subjectively biased turns on his or her responses on *voir dire* and a circuit court's assessment of the individual's honesty and credibility, among other relevant factors." *Id.* at 718. Further, the *Oswald* decision elaborated on nonverbal signals that are perceived by the trial court, stating:

"[I]t is not just the juror's words that are important. The manner in which the juror says the words and the body language he or she exhibits while answering speak volumes—volumes that are not transmitted to a reviewing court via the cold record. Our inability to review demeanor and thus assess sincerity is precisely why we leave the determination of subjective bias to the circuit court." 232 Wis. 2d at 110.

Accordingly, "[g]iven the circuit court's superior position to so assess the demeanor and disposition of prospective jurors," this Court must "uphold the circuit court's factual finding that a prospective juror is or is not subjectively biased unless it is clearly erroneous." *Faucher*, 227 Wis.2d at 718.

Objective bias is a mixed question of fact and law. *Id*.at 720. A juror is objectively biased "when a reasonable person in the juror's position could not be impartial." *Id*. at 718. Whether a juror is objectively biased depends on the "facts and circumstances surrounding the *voir dire* and the facts involved in the case." *Id*. "The trial court must . . . strike a juror for objective bias if the juror has a direct connection to a dispositive issue in the case, such as the defense theory, coupled with a personal belief regarding the outcome of that issue." *Oswald*, 232 Wis. 2d at 115.

8

Juror S.B. was not subjectively biased. Nothing in the *voir dire* proceedings with Juror S.B. would suggest that she maintained any subjective bias. The trial court properly summarized the reasons why Juror S.B. was not subjectively bias, which were supported in the record. (R.39:48/App.22), (R.39:50-51/App.23).

Juror S.B. was also not objectively biased. Similarly, nothing in the *voir dire* proceedings with Juror S.B. would suggest that she maintained an objective bias, as she had no interest in the proceeding or any unique connection to the facts or circumstances of this case to suggest that she could not be fair and impartial. The trial court properly considered these factors in denying Mr. Conger's motion to strike her cause. *Id*.

B. Juror S.B. remaining on the jury panel could not have resulted in any prejudice to Mr. Conger because a blood alcohol curve defense was not advanced by Mr. Conger at trial.

The general prohibition against reversal of a judgment for error or defect in the proceedings is announced in the "harmless error" statute, pursuant to Wis. Stat. §805.18(2). This statute applies to criminal cases. *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis.2d 525,547, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985). The application of a harmless error analysis is instructive and relevant to the

9

process of jury selection. *State v. Lindell*, 245 Wis.2d 689,730, 629 N.W.2d 223 (2001). See also *State v. Coble*, 100 Wis.2d 179,201-11, 301 N.W.2d 221 (1981).

In assessing a claim of juror bias, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recently took into consideration a harmless error analysis, noting that "the State would bear the burden of establishing that any error was harmless because it stands to benefit from such an error". *Lepsch*, 374 Wis.2d at. 130, see also *State v. Martin*, 343 Wis.2d 278,285 816 N.W.2d 270 (quoting *State v. Harvey*, 254 Wis.2d 442, 465, 647 N.W.2d 189 (2002)). *Lepsch* ultimately failed to demonstrated that his jury was anything less than impartial, any error was determined to be harmless. See *374 Wis.2d* at 138.

Contrary to Mr. Conger's claim, he did not present a blood alcohol curve defense. (See App. Brief, 3,7,9). Firstly, at trial, neither Mr. Conger nor the State presented any evidence about the human body's ability to absorb or eliminate alcohol from the bloodstream, neither party elicited any testimony regarding retrograde extrapolation, and neither party made any reference to the blood alcohol curve. In fact, Mr. Conger successfully moved to exclude the State's expert from testifying as to retrograde extrapolation. (R.39:139-142/App.21-24). Without question, the record is devoid of any expert testimony pertaining to retrograde extrapolation for which an alcohol curve defense could have been based.

Secondly, Mr. Conger himself did not testify as to a drinking history in this case. (R.39:207/R.App.25). No other witnesses were presented by Mr. Conger at trial. *Id.* As a result, no additional information pertaining to Mr. Conger's drinking history, alcohol/dissipation rates, or use of a  $Hinz^1$ chart was presented at trial. For those reasons, there was no testimony advanced pertaining to a blood alcohol curve defense.

As a result, even if it were determined that Juror S.B. was somehow biased against the "blood alcohol curve defense," the verdict could not have been prejudicial to Mr. Conger, because the alleged defense theory was not advanced at trial. The impact of Juror S.B. remaining on the jury was, at most, harmless.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See *State v. Hinz*, 121 Wis.2d 282, 360 N.W.2d 56 (Ct. App. 1984) which provides for use of a standardized blood alcohol concentration chart.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the trial court did not err in denying Mr. Conger's motion to strike Juror S.B. for cause. Further, if any bias is present, the absence of a blood alcohol curve defense at trial resulted in a harmless error from the trial court's failure to strike Juror S.B. As a result, the Court should sustain the Judgment of Conviction and deny Mr. Conger a new jury trial.